SOCIAL EFFICACY BELIEFS IN CARDIAC REHABILITATION

SOCIAL EFFICACY BELIEFS AND EXERCISE BEHAVIOUR IN

İ.

CARDIAC REHABILITATION

By

ELIZABETH GUNN, B.KIN

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Master of Science

McMaster University

© Copyright by Elizabeth Gunn, September 2010

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2010) (Kinesiology) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE:Social Efficacy Beliefs and Exercise Behaviour in
Cardiac RehabilitationAUTHOR:Elizabeth Gunn, B.Kin. (McMaster University)SUPERVISOR:Dr. Steven Bray

NUMBER OF PAGES: vii, 68

Abstract

Participation in exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation is a fundamental component for recovery and secondary prevention efforts following a cardiac event (Smith et al., 2006). However, despite the known benefits of regular exercise for cardiac patients (Jolliffe et al., 2001) and the ever-increasing availability of cardiac rehabilitation and related programs, individuals affected by cardiovascular disease continue to demonstrate poor attendance and follow-up adherence to exercise programming; this is particularly true for female participants (Daly et al., 2002; Halm et al., 1999, Woodgate & Brawley, 2008). Previous research has shown self-efficacy to be a reliable and strong predictor of exercise adherence in both the general and cardiac rehabilitation populations. Using social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986, 1997, 2001), the present study investigated several socially-mediated perceptions that were theorized to predict self-efficacy, and in turn, its relationship to adherence to cardiac rehabilitation programming. In particular, this study was designed to investigate proxy efficacy and a newly-proposed socially-mediated efficacy construct (instructor support efficacy) and the relations between those variables, self-efficacy and exercise adherence within the cardiac rehabilitation setting. It was hypothesized that proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy measured during the third week of cardiac rehabilitation would independently predict self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of cardiac rehabilitation. It was also hypothesized that instructor support efficacy at week 3 of cardiac rehabilitation would be a stronger predictor of self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of cardiac rehabilitation among women compared to men. Lastly, the study

iii

aimed to investigate proxy efficacy, instructor support efficacy and self-efficacy as predictors of exercise class attendance and adherence during participation in the cardiac rehabilitation program. Sixty cardiac rehabilitation participants (of which approximately 73% were male) who were enrolled in a hospital-based cardiac rehabilitation program completed assessments for self-efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for selfregulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise and instructor support efficacy at weeks 3 and 9 of program participation. Exercise attendance and exercise prescription adherence records were collected (at week 15 of program participation) using attendance records and exercise logbooks from the cardiac rehabilitation centre. In general, scores for all variables of interest were relatively high. Consistent with the first hypothesis, proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy measured during the third week of cardiac rehabilitation independently predicted self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of participation in the cardiac rehabilitation program. However, contrary to the hypotheses, when sex was investigated as a moderator of the instructor support efficacy – self-efficacy relationship, instructor support efficacy at week 3 did not predict self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 for either women or men. Finally, self-efficacy for self-regulation and proxy efficacy for in-class exercise independently predicted exercise class attendance between weeks 3-9, but no other significant predictors were found for exercise class attendance or program adherence throughout the remainder of the program. The findings from the present study provide a promising starting point in the development and assessment of instructor support efficacy within the cardiac rehabiliation population.

iv

Acknowledgements

I am not really even sure where to start. I am so grateful to have been able to complete this journey.

To my supervisor Steve Bray, thank you so much for your patience over the past five years. I have learned a lot and am grateful to have had the experience with you. Thank you for your time and insight into an area of research that I hold near and dear to my heart.

I would like to also thank my committee members, Kathleen Martin Ginis and Chris Shields. It was a privilege to have both of you involved in my research and thesis.

To Heather Arthur, almost ten years ago you took a chance on someone who changed her mind. Thank you, thank you, thank you. I have learned so much from you over the past decade – about research, work, life and love. Thank you for allowing me to pursue my degree and supporting me every step of the way. Words cannot say enough.

To my husband Blair - a huge thank you to my biggest supporter. Over the past five years you have held my hand, listened to me, encouraged me, stood beside me as I made decisions that would affect both of us and our family and loved me unconditionally. I am so grateful every day that you are in my life. I love you with all of my heart.

To my children – Ava and our impending arrival. Ava – thank you for fulfilling my life. I am forever grateful to be able to call myself your mommy. You have turned our lives upside down and we would not change a thing! Baby #2 – thank you for waiting for me to finish my thesis before your arrival!

Thank you to my family - Mom, Dad, Kim, Rhyus, Janice, Jamie & Spencer. Thank you for your never-ending support and love. Thank you also for the many hours of babysitting so that I could take the time to work and complete my degree. To my Grandma & Papa Broadley. You are an inspiration to me. Thank you for always being interested in what I am doing and for your love and support. Thank you also to all of my aunts, uncles, cousins and extended family – Gunn's, Broadley's, Spearing's & Holden's.

To my friends who have supported me throughout this journey. Amy W., Carrie, Chera, Liz, Erin, Krista, & Amy P. Thank you for sharing and listening to my laughter, my tears, my frustrations and my triumphs.

Page

and the second sec

Table of Contents

Literature Review	1
Cardiovascular Disease	1
Cardiac Rehabilitation	1
Exercise Adherence in Cardiac Rehabilitation	3
Social Cognitive Theory	4
Social Support	8
Statement of the Problem	9
Purpose	10
Hypotheses	10
Method	11
Participants	11
Measures	14
Self-Efficacy for Self-Regulation	14
Proxy Efficacy for Exercise	15
Proxy Efficacy for Self-Regulation	15
Proxy Efficacy for In-Class Exercise	15
Instructor Support Efficacy	16
Exercise Adherence	18
Procedure	18
Recruitment Process	18
Time 1 assessment (week 3 of program participation)	19
Time 2 assessment (week 9 of program participation)	19
Time 3 assessment (week 15 of program participation)	19
Results	20
Screening of Data	20
Descriptives	24
Relationships between Self-Efficacy, Proxy Efficacy, Instructor Support	
Efficacy and Exercise Adherence	28
Hypothesis 1	31
Hypothesis 2	34
Hypothesis 3	36
Discussion	39
References	50

i

Appendices	59
A – Demographics	59
B - Self-Efficacy for Self-Regulation Questionnaire	61
C – Proxy Efficacy for Self-Regulation Questionnaire	63
D – Proxy Efficacy for In-Class Exercise Questionnaire	65
E – Instructor Support Efficacy	67

List of Figures and Tables

Figure		Page
1	Flow of program and study participants	13
Table		
1	Internal Consistency Reliabilities (Cronbach's α) for Self-efficacy, Proxy Efficacy and Instructor Support Efficacy Variables	17
2	Means and Standard Deviations for Raw and Transformed Data and Test for Significance of Skewness and Kurtosis	22
3	Characteristics of Study Participants	24
4	Means for all Study Variables	26
5	Correlations for Efficacy Variables and Exercise Adherence (Raw Data)	29
6	Correlations for Efficacy Variables and Exercise Adherence (Transformed Data)	30
7	Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for Hypothesis 1 (Model 1)	33
8	Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for Hypothesis 1 (Model 2)	33
9	Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for Hypothesis 2	35
10	Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for CR Exercise Class Attendance (weeks 3-9)	37

Literature Review

Cardiovascular Disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD), including myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, valvular heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, arrhythmias, high blood pressure, and stroke, is the leading cause of mortality among men and women in Canada (Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, 2003; Statistics Canada, 2005). In 2004, CVD was responsible for the deaths of approximately 71,000 Canadians, accounting for one third of all deaths nationwide (Statistics Canada, 2005). Although both men and women are affected by CVD equally (30% and 31%, respectively), women are generally older than men at the time of their initial event (Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, 2003; Statistics Canada, 2005). Women with CVD are also more likely to be severely ill, to have lower socioeconomic status, to live alone, and to be less educated than men (Grace et al., 2002b). Despite emergent evidence that women experience CVD much differently than men, until recently, women have been understudied and underrepresented in CVD research (Arthur et al., 2007). Therefore, research aimed at understanding factors that differentiate men and women in their experience is of paramount importance.

Cardiac Rehabilitation

Risk factors for CVD include those that are non-modifiable (e.g., age, gender, ethnicity and family history) and modifiable (e.g., smoking, physical inactivity, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, diabetes, and depression) (Stone & Arthur, 2004). Given the prevalence of CVD in Canada, secondary prevention programs are often employed as a means to aid in risk factor management and modification (Clark, Hartling,

McMaster University, Kinesiology

Vandermeer, & McAlister, 2005). Cardiac rehabilitation (CR) is an intervention designed to facilitate such changes. The Canadian Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation (CACR; 1999) defines CR as the "...enhancement and maintenance of cardiovascular health through individualized programs designed to optimize physical, psychological, social, vocational and emotional status" (p. 1). The primary goal of CR is secondary prevention. This objective is accomplished through the identification and modification of risk factors (Stone, Arthur, Austford & Blair, 2004). As a result, CR assists in the prevention of disease progression and the recurrence of cardiac events (Stone et al., 2004). Participation in CR is a fundamental component of an individual's recovery following acute myocardial infarction (MI), coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG) and stable angina (Smith et al., 2006). CR programs are designed to improve physical and emotional functioning in individuals affected with CVD and typically involve exercise and education components aimed to promote secondary prevention and improve quality of life (Arthur, Swabey, Suskin, & Ross, 2004; Grace et al., 2002b).

Traditional CR programs incorporate cardiovascular endurance exercise as the main component of risk factor modification and prevention of disease progression. A meta-analysis of 48 trials (*n*=8940) by Taylor et al. (2004), reviewed the effectiveness of exercise-based CR in patients with CVD and reported that compared with usual care, CR was associated with a significant reduction in modifiable risk factors (hypertension, dyslipidemia, and smoking), and a reduction in all-cause and cardiac mortality. The benefits associated with CR on mortality were independent of CVD diagnosis and exercise type, dose, or frequency. More recently, Jolliffe et al. (2006) reported similar

conclusions based on data showing that comprehensive CR (which included an exercise component) and exercise only CR reduced total cardiac mortality by 31% and 26%, respectively.

Exercise Adherence in Cardiac Rehabilitation

Despite numerous physical and psychosocial benefits associated with CR participation, non-adherence to exercise during and following CR is problematic. Evidence suggests that only one-third of cardiac patients participate in CR exercise programs, and of those who participate, only about 30% maintain the CR exercise levels after six months (Daly et al., 2002; Sharp & Freeman, 2009). Numerous factors have been associated with non-adherence to CR; including advancing age, being a woman, lower education levels, lack of social support, lack of perceived benefits of CR, having angina, and lower levels of leisure-time physical activity (Beswick et al., 2005; Daly et al, 2002; Sharp & Freeman, 2009; Worcester, Murphy, Mee, Roberts & Goble, 2004).

Previous research has demonstrated that women who enroll in CR have less positive psychosocial profiles when they begin CR, demonstrate poor attendance at CR, and are less likely to adhere to or complete their exercise prescriptions than men who enroll in CR (Brezinka & Kittel, 1995; Daly et al., 2002; Grace et al., 2009; Halm, Penque, Doll, & Behrs, 1999; Moore, Dolanksy, Ruland, Pashkow, & Blackburn, 2003). This fundamental difference between female and male CR participants is of particular interest for the present thesis. It has been suggested that there are several unique barriers that may affect CR adherence among women, including low levels of self-efficacy for exercising and low levels of social support for exercise (Beswick et al., 2005; Grace et

al., 2002b; Jackson, Leclerc, Erskine & Linden, 2005). The use of theory-based research to understand, evaluate and develop programs to improve adherence to CR programs for women has been recommended (Sharp & Freeman, 2009).

Social Cognitive Theory

A theoretical framework that has formed the basis of several investigations of exercise adherence in CR programs is Bandura's (1986, 2001) social cognitive theory (SCT). SCT outlines three modes of agency: personal agency (self as the agent), collective agency (a group as the agent), and proxy agency (a third party acting as an agent on one's behalf) (Bandura, 1997, 2001). According to Bandura, efficacy beliefs are the cognitive foundation of agency. Thus, efficacy beliefs pertaining to each of personal, collective, and proxy agency are self-efficacy, collective efficacy, and proxy efficacy.

Self-efficacy is defined as one's confidence in his/her ability to perform behaviours required to produce desired outcomes (Bandura, 1986; 1997; 2000). Selfefficacy is positively associated with physical activity levels in the general population and is a primary target of intervention efforts to promote physical activity behaviour change (Bandura, 1997; McAuley, Pena & Jerorme, 2001; Rhodes, Martin & Taunton, 2001). With respect to CR, self-efficacy has been found to be predictive of CR adherence (Blanchard, Rodgers, Courneya, Daub & Knapik, 2002; Evon & Burns, 2004; Ewart, Stewart, Gillilan, & Kelemen, 1986; Millen & Bray, 2008).

Although an overall relationship between self-efficacy and CR adherence has been observed, it has been reported that women referred to CR have lower self-efficacy

McMaster University, Kinesiology

levels than men and consequently, "because CR places considerable emphasis on physical skills, women's perceptions of their physical abilities may influence their decision to participate in CR" (Grace et al., 2002a, p. 123). In other words, because they doubt their capabilities to exercise, women may often withdraw from CR prior to realizing any of its benefits. However, when women do participate in CR, they have been found to gain self-efficacy and show equal or greater improvements than those seen in men (Gardener et al., 2003). Additionally, research has indicated that during participation in CR, female cardiac patients have lower barrier efficacy for overcoming specific exercise barriers (i.e. confidence in their ability to carry out a basic task under challenging conditions) than men (Blanchard et al., 2002). Therefore, given the lower self-efficacy levels of women, it has been suggested that CR programs should recognize that women may initially require careful treatment and that programs be tailored appropriately to address these issues (Blanchard et al., 2002; Gardener et al., 2003; Grace et al., 2002a). In particular, CR programs should be designed in a manner that nurtures self-efficacy from a very weak and fragile state at the outset.

One avenue for building self-efficacy, especially from very low levels, that may be important for women in CR is through socially-mediated efficacy determinants. Proxy efficacy represents a socially-mediated determinant of self-efficacy. Proxy efficacy was first examined by Bray, Gyurcsik, Culos-Reed, Dawson and Martin (2001), and was defined as "one's confidence in the skills and abilities of a third party or parties to function effectively on his or her behalf" (p. 426). In the healthcare and exercise settings, it has been suggested that individuals engaging in exercise or exercise

rehabilitation develop beliefs (e.g., confidence) in their exercise leader or rehabilitation professional's abilities (Bray et al., 2001; Christensen, Wiebe, Benotsch & Lawton, 1996). Proxy efficacy is important in the early stages of behaviour change, when individuals may doubt their own capabilities and can rest some of the burden of personal agency on a trusted other (Bandura, 2001; Bray, Brawley, & Millen, 2006, Bray & Shields, 2007). This dual agency interaction may be particularly important when behaviours are novel, challenging, and complex – such as cardiovascular exercise in CR. That is, because the proxy agent takes on some of the responsibility for the behaviour, one can focus his or her efforts on the components of the behaviour s/he can do and, over time, can develop stronger self-efficacy for the whole behaviour.

Two studies have investigated proxy efficacy perceptions and their correlates among healthy novice exercisers. In each of those studies, Bray and colleagues found proxy efficacy to be positively related to self-efficacy, exercise intentions and adherence to exercise (Bray et al., 2001; Bray, Gyurcsik, Martin Ginis, Culos-Reed, 2004).

In the CR setting, Bray and Cowan (2004) found that proxy efficacy was positively related to patients' self-efficacy for exercising and their intentions to continue exercising post – CR. In a more recent longitudinal study, Bray et al. (2006) found proxy efficacy for in-class exercise predicted exercise self-efficacy and proxy efficacy for home-based exercise predicted self-efficacy for self-regulating exercise outside of CR. In concert, these findings support the positive role that proxy efficacy plays in the development of self-efficacy among beginner exercisers and CR patients. As suggested

by Bandura (1997) and demonstrated by Bray and colleagues, the proxy efficacy beliefs exercisers develop in proxy agents such as CR exercise therapists may contribute to the development of self-efficacy and assist in the achievement of positive outcomes (e.g., successful adherence to an exercise program) for CR patients.

Although proxy efficacy has been associated with positive psychosocial and behavioural outcomes in CR, it may be that exercise therapists in CR settings may also contribute to the development of CR participants' self-efficacy through other sociallymediated processes. For instance, Lent and Lopez (2002) suggest beliefs in another's capabilities to provide social support (i.e., other efficacy) can also affect self-efficacy for behaviour. For example, when a person believes strongly in a supportive other's abilities to provide support, they can develop a stronger sense of self-efficacy because they perceive that assistance, in the form of encouragement or instruction, is being provided or is available when needed. While other efficacy for social support has some similar attributes to proxy efficacy, the two constructs differ because the "other" does not serve in the proxy's role as someone empowered with a portion of personal agency, rather, s/he provides support as part of his or her role as an external agent. In other words, proxy efficacy refers to one's perceptions of another's ability to assist one in performing a task, or achieving an outcome by taking on some of the instrumental burden of the task, whereas other efficacy for social support refers to the confidence an individual has in a supportive individual's ability to provide emotional or informational support. A major aim of this thesis was to examine other efficacy beliefs regarding social support for exercise in CR. Given the "other" to which this form of efficacy is

-

directed is the exercise instructor in CR, the term "instructor support efficacy" was adopted to represent this construct.

Social Support

Perceived social support for exercise received from others (such as family and friends) has been associated with exercise participation (Courneya & McAuley, 1995). Additionally, social support has been found to have a positive effect on the promotion and restoration of health following a cardiac event in both males and females (Berkman, Leo-Summers, & Horwitz, 1992; Con, Linden, Thompson, & Ignazewski, 1999; Halm et al., 1999). To date, research examining the relationship between social support and exercise adherence in CR has primarily focused on spousal support. However, as summarized by Woodgate, Brawley and Shields (2007), "the inherent provision of social assistance and support from both rehabilitation staff and other participants in the CR program (e.g., social integration, guidance) may be useful to individuals as they strive to become self-efficacious in their adjustment, acquisition of new skills, and adherence to their exercise regimen" (p. 1042). Social support is often characterized as a multidimensional construct. Wills and Shinar (2000) summarize these constructs to include emotional support (i.e., the availability of an individual who can listen, share or express feelings, provide approval, caring and acceptance), instrumental support (i.e., provision of tangible help with various tasks), information support (i.e., provision of knowledge, advice and aid in the solution of problems) and companionship support (i.e., availability or presence of an individual to participate in activities with the supported individual). For the purpose of this thesis, social support dimensions of primary

relevance were emotional support and informational support. Emotional support is also referred to in the literature as esteem support, or confidant support (Wills & Shinar, 2000).

Given that women are likely to begin CR with generally low levels of selfefficacy, (Beswick et al., 2005; Grace et al., 2002b; Jackson et al., 2005) having confidence in their exercise instructors' capabilities to provide emotional and informational support as they pursue the challenges of CR exercise may be an important contributor to their self-efficacy for exercising. It is important to differentiate between the efficacy for support and actual support; other efficacy for social support refers to the confidence an individual holds in the ability of another person (e.g., their exercise leader) to provide social support. Whether or not perceived, received, or actual support occurs, however, is another matter. Thus, CR participants' proxy efficacy and instructor support efficacy beliefs offer two socially-mediated pathways through which self-efficacy may be nurtured and developed. Because they lack experience and selfefficacy for exercising, instructor support efficacy may be a particularly important determinant of self-efficacy for older women taking part in CR.

Statement of the Problem

Participation in exercise-based CR is vital to recovery and secondary prevention efforts following a cardiac event (Smith et al., 2006). Previous research has demonstrated that CR participants demonstrate variable attendance and poor follow-up adherence to their exercise prescriptions, particularly among women (Daly et al., 2002; Halm et al., 1999; Woodgate & Brawley, 2008). Self-efficacy is a consistent and strong

predictor of exercise adherence in CR. Therefore, modifiable factors such as proxy efficacy and instructor support efficacy that can influence self-efficacy should be explored. This research aims to provide an empirical foundation that may guide future research to develop strategies to assist CR interventionists in appropriately tailoring CR programs for both men and women by examining potential social and psychosocial factors associated with adherence to exercise-based CR.

Purpose

The present study had three purposes. The first purpose was to examine prospective relationships between self-efficacy, proxy-efficacy, and instructor support efficacy in CR. The second purpose was to investigate whether gender moderates the prospective relationship between instructor support efficacy and self-efficacy. The third purpose was to investigate proxy efficacy, instructor support efficacy, and selfefficacy as predictors of exercise attendance and adherence during CR.

Hypotheses

Based on social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1997; 2001; Lent & Lopez, 2002) and previous research examining self-efficacy and proxy efficacy in both the cardiac and general exercise populations (see reviews by Bandura, 1997, 2004; Bray & Cowan, 2004; Bray et al., 2001, 2004, 2006; McAuley & Blissmer, 2000; McAuley, Pena, & Jerome, 2001; Shields & Brawley, 2006), it was hypothesized that:

 Proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy measured during the third week of CR would independently predict self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of CR.

- Instructor support efficacy at week 3 of CR would be a stronger predictor of self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of CR among women compared to men.
- i. Self-efficacy, proxy efficacy, and instructor support efficacy measured at week 3 of CR should predict CR class attendance and exercise adherence during CR sessions during weeks 3-9 of CR;
 - ii. Self-efficacy, proxy efficacy, and instructor support efficacy measured at week 9 of CR should predict CR class attendance and exercise adherence during CR sessions during weeks 9-15 of CR.

Method

Participants

Male and female participants were recruited from the Cardiac Health and Rehabilitation Centre (CHRC) CR program at Hamilton Health Sciences (HHS). The CHRC is a multidisciplinary, outpatient CR program, which provides supervised, hospital-based exercise classes, nursing education and support and dietary counseling. Ninety-minute supervised exercise classes are held twice weekly over a six-month period for a total of approximately 48 exercise sessions. The program curriculum is based on the Canadian Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation (CACR) guidelines (Stone & Arthur, 2009). The CHRC receives all post-discharge coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) referrals for CR in the City of Hamilton and surrounding communities, as well as most myocardial infarction (MI) referrals. All patients who are referred to the CHRC are offered participation in the supervised exercise program. Approximately 1100

patients are referred to the CHRC per year and of those, approximately 75% elect to participate in the supervised exercise program (R. D'Oliveria, personal communication, October 22, 2009). Individuals are referred to the supervised exercise program at the CHRC by their cardiologist or general practitioner and are eligible to participate if they: 1) have been referred for CR and secondary prevention with any cardiac diagnosis; 2) are over the age of 18; 3) provide informed consent; and 4) are able to read and write English at or above a Grade 8 level.

Of the 227 program participants who were assessed for eligibility to participate in the study (i.e., those individuals who were scheduled to begin the CR program during the recruitment window), 108 individuals were deemed ineligible to participate or withdrew from the program before the recruitment process for those individuals began. Reasons included language barriers, switching to another exercise program closer to home, medical reasons, or reasons unspecified. Thirty-nine otherwise eligible patients declined the invitation to participate in the study. Reasons for declining participation included, not being interested, being involved in other research studies and being too busy to participate.

Eighty CR patients agreed to participate in the study; of this total, 20 (33%) were lost due to attrition. The majority of these participants were also dropouts of the CR program, although a few left the study due to subsequent personal illness or injury. Efforts were made to contact the dropouts; however, despite numerous efforts to contact them, their reasons for leaving the program could not be determined. Therefore, the

final sample for the present study consisted of 60 participants. The flow of program

participants throughout the study is presented in Figure 1.

Figure 1.

Flow of program and study participants.



Measures

Self-efficacy for self-regulation. Previous research has utilized various measures to assess an individual's self-efficacy in CR; these include measures assessing barrier self-efficacy, task self-efficacy, self-regulatory self-efficacy and scheduling selfefficacy (Petter et al., 2009; Woodgate & Brawley, 2008). In an effort to minimize participant burden in the current study, and to provide consistency with the research question, self-efficacy for self-regulation was measured and assessed using an 8-item questionnaire developed by Shields (2007). This questionnaire asked participants about their confidence in their ability to manage various aspects of their exercise participation. Example items included assessment of the participant's confidence to do the following: "motivate yourself to get to at least 30 minutes of activity a day, 3 days per week"; "schedule exercise sessions into your weekly routine so that you can get at least 30 minutes of exercise a day, 3 times per week"; "set realistic, weekly, exercise goals for yourself (e.g. exercising 3 days/week)" and "plan exercises that fit within your other daily activities". Participants were asked to rate their confidence in their own abilities regarding each item on a scale of 0 % (not at all confident she or he can do this) to 100% (completely confidence she or he can do). The mean of the 8-item scale was used as the measure of self-efficacy for exercise. The scale showed good internal consistency at both assessment points, with the alpha value ranging from .92 to .95 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001; see Table 1).

Proxy efficacy for exercise. Proxy efficacy for exercise was represented by two measures of proxy efficacy: proxy efficacy for self-regulation and proxy efficacy for in-class exercise.

Proxy efficacy for self-regulation was assessed using an 8-item questionnaire assessing participants' confidence in their CR program/staff leaders' ability to assist them with self-regulation of their exercise participation (Shields, 2007). Example items included the exercise leader's abilities to do the following: "help you to use safe, effective exercise techniques (e.g., warm-up, stretching)"; "help you to monitor your exercise progress by recording what exercises you do, how often you do them and for how long"; "help you return to exercising after missing a session"; and "help you develop solutions to cope with potential barriers that can interfere with your exercise". Participants were asked to rate their confidence in their exercise leaders' abilities regarding each item on a scale of 0 % (*not at all confident she or he can do this*) to 100% (*completely confidence she or he can do*). The mean of the 8-item scale was used as a measure of proxy efficacy for exercise. The scale showed good internal consistency at both assessment points, with an alpha value of .95 at each assessment point (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001; see Table 1).

Proxy efficacy for in-class exercise was assessed using an 18-item instrument reflecting CR participants' confidence in their CR program staff/leaders' abilities to offer specific behaviours and lead their exercise program during their CR sessions (Bray, Brawley, & Gunn, 2009; Bray et al., 2006). Example items included participants' confidence in their exercise leaders' abilities to do the following: "provide easy to

follow instructions"; "provide encouragement to me"; "give me appropriate feedback on my exercising form"; "give me individualized feedback and attention"; "include a variety of different exercises in my program"; "incorporate new activities/exercises in my sessions"; and "reduce my fears about exercising". Participants were asked to rate their confidence in their exercise leaders' abilities regarding each item on a scale of 0 (*not at all confident she or he can do this*) to 10 (*totally confidence she or he can do this*) scale. The mean of the 18-item scale was used as a measure of proxy efficacy for exercise. The scale showed good internal consistency at both assessment points, with an alpha value of .98 at each assessment point (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001; see Table 1).

Instructor support efficacy. Instructor support efficacy was measured using a 7-item instrument developed for use in the current study. This measure was based on the emotional and informational support items measured by the Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) Social Support Survey (Sherbourne & Stewart, 1991), a widely used tool to assess the social support of individuals with chronic illness. Participants were asked to rate their confidence in their CR program staff/leaders' abilities to provide social support when they come to their exercise program. Example items included confidence in their CR program staff/leaders' abilities to me when I need to talk about my cardiac health concerns"; "give me good advice about my cardiac health"; and "allow me to share my worries and fears about my cardiac health with him/her". Participants will be asked to rate their confidence in their exercise leaders' abilities regarding each item on a scale of 0 (*not at all confident she or he can do this*) to 10 (*totally confidence*

she or he can do this) scale. The mean of the 7-item scale was used as a measure of instructor support efficacy. The scale showed good internal consistency at both assessment points, with the alpha value ranging from .95 to .98 (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001; see Table 1).

Table 1

Internal Consistency Reliabilities (Cronbach's a) for Self-efficacy, Proxy Efficacy and Instructor Support Efficacy Variables

Variable	Week 3	Week 9
Self-efficacy for self-regulation	.92	.95
Proxy efficacy for self-regulation	.95	.95
Proxy efficacy for in-class exercise	.98	.98
Instructor support efficacy	.95	.98

Note. n = 60. Self-efficacy = 8 items; Proxy efficacy for self-regulation = 8 items; Proxy efficacy for in-class exercise = 18 items; Instructor support efficacy = 7 items. All internal consistency reliabilities were acceptable ($\alpha > .70$; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001). **Exercise Adherence.** Participants' adherence to their exercise program during their enrollment in CR was assessed in two different ways. <u>Attendance</u> during CR was calculated by adding the number of sessions attended between weeks 3-9 and 9-15 of CR divided by the number of sessions scheduled (12), multiplied by 100. <u>Adherence</u> to their exercise prescription was calculated by summing the total number of minutes of exercise completed during the CR classes attended between weeks 3-9 and 9-15 of CR divided by the number of minutes of exercise prescribed for those classes by their supervising kinesiologist, multiplied by 100. This information was collected using the supervised exercise program attendance records and exercise logbooks at the CHRC.

Procedure

Recruitment process. New patients of the supervised exercise program at the CHRC were screened for study eligibility and approached by their exercise leader (a kinesiologist employed by the CHRC) during the first week of their exercise program. The kinesiologist then provided the patient with a study information sheet and asked the patient if they were willing to be contacted by a research assistant. Once permission was given to the kinesiologist, a graduate researcher contacted the patient. Those participants who expressed an interest to be involved in the study were then scheduled for an appointment (3 weeks following the start of their exercise program) to complete their consent and Time 1 questionnaires. Appointments were scheduled at a time that was convenient for participants and/or coordinated with their supervised exercise class schedule.

Time 1 assessment (week 3 of CR program participation). The Time 1 assessment was conducted during week 3 of program participation. This was done in order to provide patients with a short amount of time to familiarize themselves with the program and their exercise leaders, and consequently allow for relational efficacies to form. As suggested by McAuley and Mihalko (1998) if experience with an activity is minimal, an individual's perception of their efficacy level may be clouded. Therefore, baseline assessments were taken during the third week of exercise participation. At Time 1, participants, a) received an information letter containing a detailed description of the study protocol, participant responsibilies, confidentiality of information, right to withdraw from the study at any time and contact information of the student investigator, her supervisor and the research ethics board; b) provided informed consent; and c) completed all study measures (demographics, self-efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy). The demographic questionnaire was used to identify the participants' sex, age, marital status, ethnicity, current occupation and employment status, education level, and cardiac event/diagnosis. This procedure took participants approximately 30 minutes to complete.

Time 2 assessment (week 9 of CR program participation). At Time 2 selfefficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for inclass exercise, and instructor support efficacy were assessed again.

Time 3 assessment (week 15 of CR program participation). Program attendance and exercise adherence were collected from supervised exercise program

attendance records and exercise logbooks at the CHRC. It should be noted that for the majority of study participants, week 15 of program participation did not represent the end of their participation in the CR supervised exercise program. It is possible that participants in this particular CR program may be kept in the program for additional nine or more weeks (this is dependent on individual patient progress and completion times are decided upon by their exercise leaders).

Results

Screening of Data

The data were initially screened for missing values. Missing data (<10%) was addressed according to the recommendations by Tabachnick and Fidell (2001). In the present study, there were no instances of entire scales being omitted in participants' responses. For the few instances when participants missed an item on a particular scale, their mean score for the completed items of the scale was used, therefore capturing the most representative value of each participants' unique response to that scale.

The procedures outlined by Tabachnick and Fidell (2001) were also followed when examining the data for outliers and normality. The z-distribution scores for skewness and kurtosis using a conservative alpha level of .001 were used to assess the normality of the scores for each of the variables. As shown in Table 2, scores for the proxy efficacy for self-regulation scale (at both Time 1 and Time 2) were substantially negatively skewed and kurtotic, as were scores for the proxy efficacy for in-class exercise and instructor support efficacy scales at Time 1 and Time 2. Standardized scores for these variables were in excess of 3.29 (p = .001, two-tailed test). As

recommended by Tabachnick & Fidell (2001), data transformations were performed to create normally-distributed data for the problematic variables. Scores were first reflected by subtracting the largest score in the distribution from the original scores and a square root transformation was then performed on the reflected scores. Analyses were conducted using the transformed data (means and standard deviations for transformed data are shown in italic font below the untransformed values in Table 2). Because the data were reflected during the transformation process, low scores for the transformed variables should be interpreted as high scores relative to the original scaling of the measures.

Table 2

_

Means and Standard Deviations for Raw and Transformed Data and Tests for Significance of Skewness and Kurtosis

		Skewness			K	urtosis	
Variable	M (SD)	Statistic	SE	Z	Statistic	SE	Z
Time 1							
Self-efficacy for self- regulation	78.61 (16.30)	56	.31	1.82	67	.61	1.10
Proxy efficacy for self- regulation	86.0 (14.27) <i>3.39 (1.88)</i>	-1.14	.31	3.70*	.80	.61	1.31
Proxy efficacy for in-class exercise	8.96 (1.37) . <i>66 (.30)</i>	-1.74	.31	5.63*	2.94	.61	4.84*
Instructor support efficacy	8.96 (1.52) .70 (.32)	-1.82	.31	5.88*	2.95	.61	4.84*
Time 2							
Self-efficacy for self- regulation	75.77 (20.34)	96	.31	3.11	.57	.61	.942
Proxy efficacy for self- regulation	81.70 (19.70) 3.76 (2.28)	-1.38	.31	4.48*	2.16	.61	3.55*
Proxy efficacy for in-class exercise	8.71 (1.79) .61 (.29)	-2.71	.31	8.76*	8.96	.61	14.74*

Table continues...

Instructor support efficacy	8.95 (1.78) . <i>69 (.31)</i>	-3.28	.31	10.62*	13.27	.61	21.83*
Adherence (3-9 weeks)							
Attendance (%)	72.43 (26.21)	78	.31	2.52	14	.61	.23
Prescription completed (%)	90.65 (16.35)	.58	.31	1.86	.87	.61	1.43
Adherence (9-15 weeks)							
Attendance (%)	74.12 (27.56)	94	.31	3.05	12	.608	.20
Prescription completed (%)	87.99 (17.33)	01	.31	.03	60	.61	.98

Note. n = 60. SE = standard error. z = (statistic - 0)/standard error. *Standardized Z-score greater than 3.29; significant at the .001 alpha level, two tailed test (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2001).

Descriptives

A summary of the collected characteristics of the sample is reported in Table 3. The sample had a mean age of 65.73 (SD = 9.20; range = 48 to 89 years). Participants were primarily Caucasian and married, and 65% were retired. The majority of participants were referred to CR following an interventional procedure (CABG = 43%; angioplasty = 30%).

Table 3

Characteristics of Study Participants

Variable	N (%)	Mean	SD	Range
Sex				
Female	16 (26.7%)			
Male	44 (73.3%)			
Age		65.73	9.20	48-89
Marital status				
Married	47 (78.3%)			
Separated	2 (3.3%)			
Widowed	6 (10.0%)			
Single	1 (1.7%)			
Divorced	2 (3.3%)			
Non-married, living with partner	2 (3.3%)			
Employment status				
Employed full-time	12 (20.0%)			
Employed part-time	6 (10.0%)			
Unemployed	1 (1.7%)			
Retired	39 (65.0%)			
Leave of absence	2 (3.3%)			

Table continues....

Ethnicity	
Caucasian	58 (96.7%)
Other	2 (3.3%)
Education	
Less than grade 8	2 (3.3%)
Some high school	10 (16.7%)
Completed high school	14 (23.3%)
Some college	4 (6.7%)
Completed college	15 (25.0%)
Some university	2 (3.3%)
Completed university	8 (13.3%)
Masters or PhD	5 (8.3%)
Referral Event	
Myocardial infarction	8 (13.3%)
CABG	26 (43.3%)
Angioplasty	18 (30.0%)
Angiogram	1 (1.7%)
Risk factor	7 (11.7%)
management/Other	

Note. n = 60. SD = standard deviation. CABG = coronary artery bypass graft. Scores for continuous variables are represented by means and standard deviations. Scores for categorical variables are represented by percentages.

Mean scores for all study variables are reported in Table 4; this table displays the mean scores of the entire study sample as well as a breakdown by sex. No significant differences were found between female and male participants on any of the study variables. As in Table 2, means and standard deviations for transformed data are shown in italic font below the untransformed values. For the duration of the study, participants attended an average of 74% (SD = 27.56) of their scheduled supervised exercise sessions at the CHRC. While in attendance, participants completed approximately 88% (SD = 17.33) of their prescribed exercise regimen.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for Study Variables for the Full Sample and by Gender

	N = 60	Women (n = 16)	Men (n = 44)	
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	p
Time 1				
Self-efficacy for self-regulation	78.61 (16.30)	77.82 (15.21)	78.89 (16.83)	.82
Proxy efficacy	86.0 (14.27)	84.84 (17.15)	86.42 (13.28)	.71
for self-regulation	<i>3.39 (1.88)</i>	<i>3.41 (2.19)</i>	<i>3.39 (1.78)</i>	.96
Proxy efficacy	8.96 (1.37)	8.73 (1.96)	9.04 (1.09)	.56
for in-class exercise	. <i>66 (.30)</i>	. <i>70 (.35)</i>	.65 (.29)	.59
Instructor support efficacy	8.96 (1.52)	8.78 (2.06)	9.03 (1.30)	.66
	.70 (.32)	. <i>73 (.35)</i>	. <i>68 (.31)</i>	. <i>63</i>
Time 2				
Self-efficacy for self-regulation	75.77 (20.34)	77.52 (15.11)	75.26 (21.94)	.75
Proxy efficacy	81.70 (19.70)	78.52 (24.38)	82.87 (17.90)	.45
for self-regulation	<i>3.76 (</i> 2.28)	4.05 (2.54)	3.66 (2.20)	. <i>56</i>
Proxy efficacy	8.71 (1.79)	8.39 (2.42)	8.83 (1.53)	.41
for in-class exercise	. <i>61 (.29)</i>	.57 (.28)	. <i>63 (.29)</i>	. <i>4</i> 8
Instructor support efficacy	8.95 (1.78)	8.64 (2.44)	9.06 (1.48)	.43
	. <i>69</i> (. <i>31</i>)	.65 (.32)	.71 (.31)	. <i>53</i>

Table continues...

Adherence (3-9 weeks)				
Attendance (%)	72.43 (26.21)	74.44 (24.13)	71.69 (27.15)	.73
Prescription				
completed (%)	90.65 (16.35)	90.18 (18.67)	90.82 (17.55)	.89
Adherence (9-15 weeks)				
Attendance (%)	74.12 (27.56)	73.53 (31.47)	74.33 (26.40)	.92
Prescription				<i>с</i> ,
completed (%)	87.99 (17.33)	89.76 (18.67)	87.35 (16.99)	.64

Note. SD = standard deviation. P-values reflect significance tests of t-tests (2-tailed) between mean scores for men and women.
Relationships between Self-Efficacy, Proxy Efficacy, Instructor Support Efficacy and Exercise Adherence

Prior to conducting regression analyses to predict self-efficacy and exercise adherence, the bivariate correlations between the variables were considered according to guidelines provided by Cohen and colleagues (2003). Correlation matrixes for both the raw and transformed data are presented in Tables 5 and 6, respectively. However, as previously mentioned, analyses for the current study were conducted using the transformed data. As shown in Table 6, the proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy variables at Time 1 were significantly correlated. Cohen and colleagues (2003) have offered a number of indices and corresponding statistical cutoff values for measuring the degree of multicollinearity between several independent variables in multiple regression analyses. Cutoff values indicating potentially serious problems of multicollinearity include any variance inflation factor (VIF) of 10 or more, or tolerance values of .10 or less. Based on these criteria, multicollinearity was not problematic in the regression analysis for the current study (i.e., VIF < 1.63; tolerance > .61). Therefore, for the hypothesis tests, all a-priori determined variables were entered into the regression equation. Additionally, Cohen and colleagues (2003) advocate that "if a researcher is interested solely in the prediction of Y or in the value of \mathbb{R}^2 , multicollinearity has little effect and no remedial action is needed" (p. 425).

Table 5

Correlations for Efficacy Variables and Exercise Adherence (Raw Data)

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1	Self-efficacy for self- regulation (T1)	_	.55**	.30*	.22	.78**	.41**	.19	.14	.25	.23	.18	00
2	Proxy efficacy for self- regulation (T1)		-	.81**	.71**	.39**	.72**	.63**	.54**	.20	.13	.08	.02
3	Proxy efficacy for in- class exercise (T1)			_	.85**	.15	.57*	.72**	.63**	.24	.21	.04	.08
4	Instructor support efficacy (T1)				_	.12	.54**	.62**	.54**	.28*	.19	.01	.02
5	Self-efficacy for self- regulation (T2)					-	.50**	.25	.19	.20	.14	.14	07
6	Proxy efficacy for self- regulation (T2)						-	.71**	.67**	.09	.04	.03	01
_	Proxy efficacy for in-							_	.93**	.03	04	.02	08
7	class exercise (T2) Instructor support								_	.04	01	05	03
8	efficacy (T2) Attendance (%)									_	.11	.46**	.22
9	(Weeks 3-9)									_			
	Prescription completed										—	.04	.44*
10	(%) (Weeks 3-9)												
11	Attendance (%)											-	.14
11	(Weeks 9-15)												
12													-
12	Prescription completed (%) (Weeks 9-15)												_

Note. **p* < .05; ***p*< .01. T1 = Time 1. T2 = Time 2.

Table 6

Correlations for Efficacy Variables and Exercise Adherence (Transformed Data)

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1	Self-efficacy for self-	_	.54 ^ª **	15 ^a	10 ^a	78 ^a **	.40 ^a **	.04 ^a	.04 ^a	25 ^a	.23	.18	00
	regulation (T1)				ce]	a a a a a	621 1		3	.		6 m ³	
2	Proxy efficacy for		_	.71 ^a **	.62 ^ª **	.39 ^a **	62 ^a **	.44 ^a **	.31 ^a	.21 ^a	.13ª	.07 ^a	.02ª
2	self-regulation (T1)				0 6 4	008	1 Carte +	C03++	10844	0.0 ² *	1 – 9	078	0.63
3	Proxy efficacy for in-			-	86 ^ª **	09 ^a	.46 ^ª **	63 ^a **	48 ^a **	30 ^a *	15 ^a	07 ^a	06ª
4	class exercise (T1)					05ª	.41 ^a **	46 ^a **	38 ^ª **	009*	15 ^a	062	068
4	Instructor support				-	05	.41 ***	40 **	38 **	28 ^a *	15	06ª	06ª
5	efficacy (T1) Self-efficacy for self-						.50 ^a **	10 ^a	11 ^a	20 ^a	.14	.14	07
5	regulation (T2)					-	.50	10	11	20	.14	.14	07
6	Proxy efficacy for							.50 ^a **	.53 ^a **	.13a ^a	$.07^{a}$.01ª	06 ^a
U	self-regulation (T2)						-	.50	.55	.15a	.07	.01	00
7	Proxy efficacy for in-								.86 ^a **	03ª	.10 ^a	.05ª	.14 ^a
•	class exercise (T2)							_					
8	Instructor support								_	08 ^a	01 ^a	.11 ^a	$.11^{a}$
	efficacy (T2)												
9	Attendance (%)										.12	.46**	.22
	(Weeks 3-9)												
10	Prescription										_	.04	.44*
	completed (%)												
	(Weeks 3-9)												
11	Attendance (%)											_	.14
	(Weeks 9-15)												
12	Prescription												_
	completed (%)												
	(Weeks 9-15)												

Note. ^aDirection of correlation has been adjusted due to reflected scores for proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy. *p < .05; **p < .01. T1 = Time 1. T2 = Time 2.

Hypothesis 1: Proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy measured during the third week of CR (Time 1) will independently predict self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of CR (Time 2).

A hierarchical multiple linear regression analysis was computed regressing selfefficacy for self-regulation on proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy. The overall model was significant, F(2, 57) = 7.97, p < .001, explaining 19% of the variance in self-efficacy for self-regulation at Time 2 ($R^2_{adi} = .19$). Proxy efficacy for self-regulation at Time 1 was entered first in the hierarchical model, because it has been shown to be a reliable predictor of exercise self-efficacy in previous research (Bray et al., 2006). Instructor support efficacy at Time 1 was entered as the second step in the model. Proxy efficacy for self-regulation accounted for 15% of the variance (R^2 change = .15, p < .01), while instructor support efficacy at Time 1 accounted for an additional 6% of the variance (R^2 change = .06, p = .04). Furthermore, given that proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy were correlated, a decision was made to further probe the relationship between those variables and selfefficacy by examining the partial and semi-partial correlations between self-efficacy and the predictor variables. Table 7 shows the model summary for the regression as well as the partial and semi-partial correlation coefficients (Model 1). Those results indicate the shared variance unique to both the proxy efficacy for self-regulation - selfefficacy and instructor support efficacy – self-efficacy relationships were reflective of moderate to large effects (i.e., sr = -.25 - sr = -.47). As a final step of analysis, selfefficacy for self-regulation at Time 1 was added on a final step in the hierarchical model

(Model 2). This order of entry was determined a priori because our main objective was to examine the primary variables of interest (proxy efficacy and instructor support efficacy) ahead of self-efficacy for exercise. The overall model was significant, F(3, 56) = 28.79, p <.001, explaining 59% of the variance in self-efficacy at Time 2 ($R^2_{adj} = .59$). Self-efficacy for self-regulation contributed an additional 39% of the variance to the model (R^2 change = .39, p < .001). Table 8 shows the model summary for the final regression model (Model 2).

Table 7

Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for Hypothesis 1(Model 1)

	··							Corre	lations
Variable	В	SEB	β	R ² adj	R ² change	F	Р	Partial	Semi- Partial
Proxy efficacy for self- regulation (Time 1)	-6.39	1.61	59**	.14	.15	10.58	.002	47	47
Instructor support efficacy (Time 1)	-20.58	9.51	32*	.19	.06	4.69	.035	28	25

Note. *p < .05, ** p < .001.

Table 8Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for Hypothesis 1 (Model 2)

Variable	В	SEB	β	R^2_{adj}	R ² change	F	р
Proxy efficacy for self- regulation (Time 1)	.19	1.45	.02	.14	.15	10.58	.002
Instructor support efficacy (Time 1)	-1.28	7.29	02	.19	.06	4.69	.035
Self-efficacy for self- regulation (Time 1)	.98	.13	.79**	.59	.39	55.25	.000

Note. ** *p* < .001.

Hypothesis 2: Instructor support efficacy at week 3 of CR will be a stronger predictor of self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of CR among women compared to men.

To investigate sex as a moderator of the instructor support efficacy – selfefficacy relationship, a moderated regression analysis was undertaken. This analysis involved regressing self-efficacy at week 9 of CR on the categorical variable: sex (men, women), the continuous variable: instructor support efficacy (at week 3) and an interaction term: sex * instructor support efficacy (at week 3). Prior to conducting the analysis, an interaction term was formed by zero-centering both the categorical variable (men = -1, women = 1) and the continuous variable and creating a product term (the interaction term: sex * instructor support) by multiplying the centered variables (as recommended by Frazier, Tix and Barron, 2004). As suggested by Frazier et al. (2004), a hierarchical multiple regression analysis was then conducted, with the main effects of sex and instructor support efficacy controlled on the first step and the interaction term entered as the final step in the model. The overall model was not significant, *F* (3, 56) = .11 p = .96. Table 9 shows the model summary for the moderated regression analysis.

Additionally, separate bivariate correlations were calculated to further examine the relationship between instructor support efficacy (at week 3) and self-efficacy (at week 9) for both female and male CR participants. Correlations were not significant for either women (r = .16, n = 16, p = .55) or men (r = .01, n = 44, p = .94).

Table 9

Hierarchical Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for Hypothesis 2

Variable	В	SEB	β	$R^2_{\rm adj}$	<i>R</i> ² change	F	Р
1.Sex	-1.69	6.07	04	02	.00	.11	.75
2.Instructor support efficacy	3.98	9.25	.06	03	.00	.11	.75
3. Sex * Instructor support efficacy	3.15	9.25	.05	05	.00	.12	.73

Hypothesis 3i: Self-efficacy, proxy efficacy, and instructor support efficacy measured at week 3 should predict CR class attendance and exercise adherence during CR sessions during weeks 3-9 of CR.

To investigate self-efficacy, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy as predictors of CR exercise attendance and adherence between weeks 3-9, two separate multiple regression analyses were conducted. For all analyses (i.e. 3i and 3ii) investigating CR class adherence and exercise adherence, order of entry was determined a priori; self-efficacy was entered first given the breadth of research showing self-efficacy as a reliable predictor of exercise adherence, followed by proxy efficacy (also shown to be a reliable predictor of exercise adherence), and finally instructor support efficacy was entered as the final step in the model (Bray et al., 2001; Bray, Gyurcsik, Martin Ginis, Culos-Reed, 2004, Evon & Burns, 2004; Ewart, Stewart, Gillilan, & Kelemen, 1986; Millen & Bray, 2008). The first model (Model 1) regressed CR attendance (percent classes attended between weeks 3-9) on self-efficacy, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy at week 3 (Time 1). The overall model was significant, F(4, 55) = 2.74 p = .04 explaining 11% of the total variance in CR attendance between weeks 3-9 ($R^2 = .15$; $R^2_{adj} = .11$). Self-efficacy (at Time 1) accounted for 6% of the variance in the model (R^2 change = .06, p = .05), while proxy efficacy for in-class exercise at Time 1 accounted for 9% of the variance (R^2 change = .09 p = .02). However, neither proxy efficacy for self-regulation or instructor support efficacy measured at Time 1 added any significant increase in the amount of variance

.....

explained (p = .50 and p = .48, respectively). A summary of the regression for Model 1 is presented in Table 10.

In the second model, CR exercise prescription adherence (percent exercise minutes performed during classes between weeks 3-9) was regressed on self-efficacy, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy at week 3 (Time 1). The overall model was not significant, $F(4, 55) = 1.20 \ p = .32$ and no significant effects were observed for any of the independent predictors (p > .10).

Table 10

Model 1: Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Summary for CR Exercise Class	
Attendance (weeks 3-9)	

Variable	В	SEB	β	R^2_{adj}	R ² Change	F	Р
Self-efficacy for self- regulation (Time 1)	.57	.26	.36*	.05	.06	3.90	.05
Proxy efficacy for self- regulation (Time 1)	4.35	3.10	.31	.04	.01	.47	.50
Proxy efficacy for in- class exercise (Time 1)	27.14	23.66	.31	.11	.09	5.83	.02
Instructor support efficacy (Time 1)	14.25	20.07	.17	.11	.01	.50	.48

Note. **p* < .05.

Hypothesis 3ii: Self-efficacy, proxy efficacy, and instructor support efficacy assessed at week 9 of CR should predict CR class attendance and exercise adherence during CR sessions during weeks 9-15 of CR.

To investigate self-efficacy, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy as predictors of CR exercise attendance and adherence between weeks 9-15, separate multiple regression analyses were conducted. Model one regressed CR attendance (percent classes attended between weeks 9-15) on self-efficacy, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for inclass exercise, and instructor support efficacy at week 9 (Time 2). Model two regressed CR exercise prescription adherence (percent exercise minutes performed during classes between weeks 9-15) on self-efficacy, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy at week 9 (Time 2). Model two regressed CR exercise prescription adherence (percent exercise minutes performed during classes between weeks 9-15) on self-efficacy, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy at week 9 (Time 2). Results of both models showed non-significant overall effects; model one: F(4, 55) = .57 p = .69 and model two: F(4, 55) = .36, p = .84.

......

Discussion

Despite the fact that participation in exercise-based CR is vital to recovery and secondary prevention efforts following a cardiac event (Smith et al., 2006), it has been repeatedly documented that CR adherence remains problematic. Thus, a greater understanding of factors that may increase CR adherence is needed. Previous research has revealed that self-efficacy is a reliable predictor of exercise adherence in CR. The current study proposed to explore several socially-mediated perceptions that were theorized to predict self-efficacy and, in turn, its association with exercise-based CR adherence. More specifically, this study was designed to investigate proxy efficacy and instructor support efficacy and the associations between those variables and self-efficacy and exercise adherence within the CR setting.

The study first examined proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy measured during the third week of CR as predictors of self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 of CR. Results indicated that proxy efficacy for selfregulation and instructor support efficacy independently predicted self-efficacy for selfregulation at week 9. As an extension of this primary question, sex was investigated as a moderator of the instructor support efficacy – self-efficacy relationship. Contrary to the hypotheses, which predicted a stronger effect for women compared to men, instructor support efficacy at week 3 did not predict self-efficacy for self-regulation at week 9 for women or men. The study also aimed to explore self-efficacy for selfregulation, proxy efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise and instructor support efficacy as predictors of CR exercise class attendance and exercise

prescription adherence during weeks 3 to 9 and 9 to 15, respectively. The prediction of exercise class attendance between weeks 3 to 9 was significant, wherein Time 1 (week 3) self-efficacy for self-regulation and proxy efficacy for in-class exercise independently predicted exercise class attendance between weeks 3-9. Surprisingly, none of the efficacy variables predicted exercise prescription adherence between weeks 3 and 9 or between weeks 9 to 15 in the study sample.

The following sections will explore the results of the study in more detail and address study limitations and future directions for research examining self-efficacy, proxy efficacy, instructor support efficacy and exercise adherence within the CR patient population.

Proxy Efficacy for Self-Regulation and Instructor Support Efficacy as Predictors of Self-efficacy for self-regulation

According to social cognitive theory, proxy efficacy is a socially-mediated perception that may lend itself to being a very important component in the building of one's self-efficacy. As evidenced by previous research, this may be particularly true for individuals participating in an exercise or exercise rehabilitation settings (Bray et al., 2001; Christensen, Wiebe, Benotsch & Lawton, 1996). People in such environments may develop beliefs (i.e., confidence) in their exercise leader or rehabilitation professional's skill that may in turn affect their self-efficacy and subsequently positively shape their abilities to engage in and adhere to an exercise program (Bray & Cowan, 2004). This hypothesis was explored in the present study. In addition to proxy efficacy, the current study explored a newly-conceived socially-mediated perception in

an effort to understand additional factors through which CR exercise leaders may contribute to the development in self-efficacy beliefs in CR participants. Following suggestions by Lent and Lopez (2002), a measure of one's confidence in another's abilities to provide social support was investigated. The construct was labeled: instructor support efficacy. Previous research has suggested that perceived social support for exercise has been positively associated with adherence to an exercise program and may contribute to the development of self-efficacy in individuals as they pursue new skills and participate in exercise programs (Courneya & McAuley, 1995; Woodgate, Brawley & Shields, 2007). These latter findings provided a foundation for the expectation that instructor support efficacy could play a role in the development of exercise-related self-efficacy among individuals who were participating in CR.

Correlational analysis in the current study showed proxy efficacy was positively related to self-efficacy for self-regulation. These findings were consistent with previous research examining the relationship between proxy efficacy and self-efficacy in both the novice exercise population and in the CR setting (Bray et al., 2006; Bray & Cowan, 2004; Bray et al., 2001; 2004). Results of the hierarchical multiple linear regression analysis revealed that for study participants, proxy efficacy for self-regulation and instructor support efficacy at Time 1 were predictive of self-efficacy for self-regulation at Time 2. As hypothesized and in concert with previous research, in the current study, proxy efficacy continues to be a reliable and independent predictor of self-efficacy (Bray et al., 2001; Christensen et al., 1996). The addition of instructor efficacy support and the increased variance that it added above and beyond the predictive value of proxy

efficacy lends a new and important dimension to previous research focusing purely on proxy efficacy as a socially-mediated efficacy determinant. Therefore, as suggested earlier, whereas proxy efficacy refers to the belief in another's ability to assist in instrumental tasks (i.e., provision of tangible help to carry out a task), instructor support efficacy reflects the confidence one has in their leader's ability to provide emotional and informational assistance above and beyond that of proxy efficacy.

Furthermore, the addition of self-efficacy for self-regulation at Time 1 contributed a large amount of explained variance in self-efficacy for self-regulation at Time 2. In the context of the present study, the data indicated that study participants began their exercise program with relatively high self-efficacy scores (as indicated by high baseline – week 3 scores) and these scores did not change significantly from the Time 1 assessment to the Time 2 assessment. It is suggested that these high and consistent scores may be due to familiarity with the measure or to the experience (and therefore confidence) gained exercising within the CR environment before the study began and between the study measurement points.

Participants also reported high levels of proxy efficacy and instructor support efficacy at their Time 1 assessment. This finding is also consistent with previous research examining efficacy beliefs among exercise participants (Bray et al., 2001; Dawson & Brawley, 2000; DuCharme & Brawley, 1995; Estabrooks & Carron, 1998). Therefore, even as early as three weeks into their CR program, participants held great confidence in their exercise leaders abilities to motivate, teach, provide emotional support and communicate with them. It may also be of particular interest to note that

there is quite a substantial wait time (approximately 6 months post-event) for patients to enter into and begin the CR program (J. Dubberly, personal communication, August 10, 2010). Therefore, patients are provided with a very long recovery and adaptation time post-event and prior to the start of their CR program. During this wait time they are often encouraged to begin some exercise on their own at home by their cardiologists and or surgeons (J. Dubberly, personal communication, August 10, 2010). Therefore, it is important to reiterate that proxy efficacy has been shown to be particularly important for building self-efficacy from very low levels and consequently may be very important in the initial entry into an exercise program when individuals may doubt their abilities and can rest some of their burden on their exercise leaders (Bandura, 2001; Bray et al., 2006, Bray & Shields, 2007). In the case of this particular CR program, it is possible that individuals were exercising prior to the start of their participation in the CR program, and the CR exercise introduced to them to them was not novel enough to warrant initial low self-efficacy levels for exercise.

In summary, it appears that the CR participants were highly efficacious in their abilities to exercise and to be supported in their exercise efforts by their interventionists. This may suggest that from a very early stage of participation in the CR program, the exercise environment and leaders supported the efficacy needs of the patients.

Sex as a Moderator of the Instructor Support Efficacy – Self-Efficacy Relationship

An important focus of the current study was to examine whether gender played a role in the relationship between instructor support efficacy and self-efficacy among CR participants. As previously mentioned, the investigation of instructor support efficacy in

this study is a novel concept and has not been explored in previous research. It was hypothesized that the ability of exercise leaders to provide emotional and informational support to the CR participants as they participate in a CR exercise environment may provide an important contribution to their self-efficacy for self-regulation. It was thought that this may be of particular importance for women given that previous research has indicated that female CR participants are more likely to begin a CR program with lower levels of self-efficacy than their male counterparts (Blanchard et al., 2002; Grace et al., 2002a). However, in the current study, there was no significant difference in baseline self-efficacy scores between male and female participants (p =.82) and, contrary to the hypothesis, instructor support efficacy did not differentially predict self-efficacy for self-regulation for women or men. Additionally, there were no significant correlations for instructor support efficacy and self-efficacy for exercise for either gender. As with the first hypothesis in the study, ceiling effects in the selfefficacy and instructor support efficacy scores are factors that may have limited detection of main or interaction effects associated with gender differences.

Although the current study did not support the hypotheses with respect to differences between male or female participants and instructor support efficacy, it is suggested that gender may still be an important moderator to examine in future research. Given that earlier research has shown that women have unique barriers that may affect their ability to adhere to CR programs (including lower levels of social support for exercise, lack of exercise experience and low levels of self-efficacy for exercising), having confidence in their exercise instructors' capabilities to provide

emotional and informational support as they pursue the challenges of CR exercise may still be an essential contributor to their self-efficacy (Beswick et al., 2005; Grace et al., 2002b, Jackson et al., 2005). It is possible that a larger sample size may have detected differences between male and female CR participants with respect to the instructor support efficacy – self-efficacy relationship. In fact, Aguinis (2004) suggests that a sample size of over 200 is necessary in order to have reasonable power to detect moderator effects when one of the variables is continuous.

Social Cognitive Theory and Exercise Adherence in Cardiac Rehabilitation

Previous research has established self-efficacy as a strong and consistent predictor of exercise adherence in both the general population as well as the CR population (Bandura, 1997; Evon & Burns, 2004; Ewart et al, 1986; McAuley et al., 2001; Millen & Bray, 2008; Rhodes et al., 2001). In the current study, examination of the efficacy variables (self-efficacy for self-regulation, proxy efficacy for selfregulation, proxy efficacy for in-class exercise, and instructor support efficacy) was performed to assess the ability of those variables to predict both exercise attendance (i.e., adherence to the number of exercise classes scheduled) and exercise prescription adherence (i.e., adherence to the number of minutes of exercise prescribed at each session). This combination of efficacy variables (measured at baseline – week 3) accounted for a significant variance in exercise class attendance among the study participants between the initial weeks of the study (weeks 3-9), but did not predict exercise prescription adherence. This finding is consistent with previous work by Bray et al. (2001) examining self-efficacy and proxy efficacy as predictors of exercise class

attendance. Conversely, the combination of efficacy variables (measured at Time 2 – week 9) did not predict either exercise class attendance or exercise prescription adherence during the later weeks of study participation (weeks 9-15). Taken together, these results suggest that perhaps the earlier perceptions that exercise participants form about their own self-efficacy beliefs and their exercise leaders shape their participation during the initial stages of CR program participation (at time at which exercise attendance has been shown to be problematic).

Study Limitations

There are a number of limitations to address in the current study. One such limitation that should be noted is the small sample size and the fact that participants were recruited from a convenience population at one CR centre. Consequently, the results of this study may not be generalizable to other hospital or community CR settings. Additionally, it has been noted in previous research that only a small number of individuals who are referred to CR actually participate in a CR supervised exercise program (Daly et al. 2002; Sharp & Freeman, 2009). Therefore, it should be put forward that this assessment may only include CR participants who were more motivated to participate in CR and who also may have been more confident in their ability to participate in CR. This proposition is supported by the fact that efficacy scores were high even at the outset of the study.

A second limitation is that proxy efficacy responses of the participants were very high and somewhat restricted in range due to ceiling effects. It is possible that the study participants may have believed their CR exercise leaders to be highly trained and

.....

experienced upon initial entry into the CR program. It may be beneficial to study a larger sample of CR participants from a combination of hospital and community CR settings to determine if high proxy efficacy scores are representative across different programs and within a larger patient population.

Another important limitation that should be noted is that the study was primarily composed of a male sample (73% of the sample were men). This uneven distribution coupled with the small sample size of the study made it extremely difficult to conduct a proper or fair moderation analysis between the male and female participants. As suggested by Aguinis (2004), samples sizes of at least 200 are necessary to have reasonable power to detect a moderator effect. It should be noted, however, that there was an abundance of male patients in the initial recruitment sample and therefore, this may in fact be representative of the patient population within this centre.

An additional limitation concerns the timing of the baseline (Time 1) data collection. It was decided that data collection would begin three weeks post-entry into the CR program in order to facilitate familiarity with the program and the exercise leaders. During these three weeks, no assessments were made and it is possible that this may have been a time in which significant changes in several of the study variables may have occurred. Retrospectively, it may have been useful to measure the efficacy variables prior to the start of the exercise program in order to observe if the scores measured at week 3 were representative of initial efficacy levels or if they were in fact changes that occurred during the initial weeks of program participation. A final limitation of the study is that the study employed a never before used and newly

developed questionnaire (the Instructor Support Efficacy scale). As noted earlier, this questionnaire was based on the emotional support items measured by the MOS Social Support Survey (Sherbourne & Stewart, 1991). It may have been beneficial to conduct a pilot study or focus group prior to the development of the questionnaire in order to determine which exercise leader support behaviours are considered to be important by CR program participants. Future work on the development, reliability and construct validity of this measure is warranted.

Study Strengths and Future Directions

Strengths of the present study include the continued examination of proxy efficacy; still a fairly innovative efficacy construct in sport and exercise psychology and the introduction of instructor support efficacy as an original socially-mediated efficacy construct. The examination of these efficacy variables is comparatively novel to the existing efficacy research, which has for the most part focused on self-efficacy, and may help to provide exercise leaders and program developers in their understanding of patient perceptions and development of their exercise and rehabilitation programs. The introduction of the idea of instructor support efficacy has important implications for future research in the CR exercise environment as well as other exercise and healthrelated fields. Future research should include qualitative needs assessments of CR program participants, focusing on what they believe to be important in terms of social, emotional and instructor support from their exercise leaders or health professionals. For example, it may be useful to utilize CR patients to modify and generate additional questionnaire items. Additionally, it may be beneficial to include all of the social

support constructs set out by Wills and Shinar (2000) in addition to emotional and informational support (i.e., instrumental support and companionship support). An additional strength of this study is its prospective design and examination of the efficacy variables throughout an individuals' participation in a CR program. Finally, although the numbers of females involved in this study were small, the examination and understanding of female participants in CR is still limited, as the majority of CR research has focused on male participants. Therefore, this study may provide important groundwork for future research to help us understand if or how perceptions about social support affect women's abilities to adhere to their exercise programs.

Conclusion

The findings from the present study provide a positive starting point in the development and assessment of other efficacy (particularly efficacy for social support) in both the CR setting and general exercise population. It is widely known that exercise adherence following a cardiac event is problematic despite the numerous physical and psychosocial benefits associated with CR participation. This is particularly true for the female CR population. Further theory-based research should help build knowledge necessary to help us understand, evaluate, and implement programs to improve CR adherence.

References

- Aquinis, H. (2004). *Regression analysis for categorical moderators* New York: Guilford.
- Arthur, H. M., Swabey, T., Suskin, N., Ross, J., on behalf of the Cardiac Care Network of Ontario, Ontario Cardiac Rehabilitation Pilot Project Collaborative. (2004).
 The Ontario Cardiac Rehabilation Pilot Project: Recommendations for health planning and policy. *The Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, 20, 1251-1255.
- Arthur, H. M., Gunn, E., Thorpe, K., Martin Ginis, K., Mataseje, L., et al. (2004). Effect of aerobic vs. combined aerobic-strength training on 1-year, post-cardiac rehabilitation outcomes in women after a cardiac event. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 39, 730-735.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice hall.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy. The exercise of control. New York: W.H. Freeman & Company.
- Bandura, A. (2000). Social-cognitive theory. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; London: Oxford University Press.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 1-26.
- Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Education and Behaviour, 31,* 143-164.

- Berkman, L. F., Leo-Summers, L., Horwitz, I. (1992). Emotional support and survival after myocardial infarction: A prospective, population-based study of the elderly. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 117, 1003-1009.
- Beswick, A. D., Rees, K., West, R. R., Taylor, F. C., Burke, M., Griebsch, I., et al. (2005). Improving uptake and adherence in cardiac rehabilitation: Literature review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 49, 538-555.
- Blanchard, C. M., Roders, W. M., Courneya, K. S., Daub, B., & Knapik, G. (2002).
 Does barrier efficacy mediate the gender-exercise adherence relationship during phase II cardiac rehabilitation? *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 47, 106-120.
- Bray, S. R., Gyurcsik, N. C., Culos-Reed, S. N., Dawson, K. A., & Martin, K. A. (2001). An exploratory investigation of the relationship between proxy efficacy, self-efficacy and exercise attendance. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 6, 425-434.
- Bray, S. R., & Cowan, H. (2004). Proxy-efficacy: Implications for self-efficacy and exercise intentions in cardiac rehabilitation. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 49, 71-75.
- Bray, S. R., Gyurcsik, N. C., Martin Ginis, K. A., & Culos-Reed, S. N. (2004). The Proxy Efficacy Exercise Questionnaire: Development of an instrument to assess female exercisers' proxy efficacy beliefs in structured group exercise classes. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 26,* 442-456.
- Bray, S. R., Brawley, L. R., & Millen, J. A. (2006). Proxy efficacy and proxy reliance predict self-efficacy and independent home-based exercise following supervised cardiac rehabilitation. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 51, 224-232.

- Bray, S. R., & Shields, C. A. (2007). Proxy agency in physical activity. In M. R.
 Beauchamp & M. A. Eys (Eds.). *Group dynamics in exercise and sport* psychology: contemporary themes (pp. 79-93). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bray, S. R., Brawley, L. R., & Gunn, E. (2009, November). Proxy agency in cardiac rehabilitation: Investigations of experiential determinants of proxy efficacy and effects on self-perceptions for exercise behaviour. Paper presented at the 40th annual meeting of the Canadian Society for Psychomotor Behaviour and Sport Psychology, Toronto ON.
- Brezinka, V., & Kittel, F. (1995). Psychosocial factors of coronary heart disease in women: A review. Social Science & Medicine, 42, 1351-1365.
- Canadian Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation (CACR). (1999). *Canadian Guidelines* for Cardiac Rehabilitation and Disease Prevention (J. A. Stone, Ed.). Winnipeg: Canadian Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation.
- Christiensen, A. J., Weibe, J.S., Benotsch, E. G., & Lawton, W. J. (1996). Perceived health compentence, health locus of control, and patient adherence in renal dialysis. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 20, 411-421.
- Clark, A. M., Hartling, L., Vandermeer, B., & McAlister, F. A. (2005). Meta-analysis: Secondary prevention programs for patients with coronary artery disease. *Annals* of Internal Medicine, 143, 659-672.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., Aiken, L.S., & West, S.G. (2003). Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioural sciences. New Jersey: Lawrence Erbaum Associates.

- Con, A. H., Linden, W., Thompson, J. M., & Ignaszewski, A. (1999). The psychology of men and women recovering from coronary artery bypass surgery. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation*, 19, 152-161.
- Courneya, K. S., & McAuley, E. (1995). Cognitive mediators of the social influenceexercise adherence relationship: A test of the theory of planned behaviour. *Journal of Behavioural Medicine, 18,* 499-515.
- Daly, J., Sindone, A. P., Thompson, D. R., Hancock, K., Chang, E., & Davidson, P.
 (2002). Barriers to participation in and adherence to cardiac rehabilitation programs: A critical literature review. *Progress in Cardiovascular Nursing*, 17, 8-17.
- Dawson, K. A., & Brawley, L. R. (2000. Examining the relationship between exercise goals, self-efficacy and overt behaviour with beginning exercisers. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 30, 315-329.
- DuCharme, K. A., & Brawley, L. R. (1995). Predicting the intentions and behaviour of exercise initiates using two forms of self-efficacy. *Journal of Behavioural Medicine*, 18, 479-497.
- Estabrooks, P. A., & Carron, A .V. (1998). The conceptualization and effect of control beliefs on exercise attendance in the elderly. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 10, 441-457.
- Evon, D. M. & Burns, J. W. (2004). Process and outcome in cardiac rehabilitation: An examination of cross-lagged effects. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72, 605-616.

- Ewart, C. K., Stewart, K. J., Gillilan, R. E., & Keleman, M. H. (1986). Self-efficacy mediates strength gains during circuit weight training in men with coronary artery disease. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 18, 531-540.
- Frazier, P.A., Tix, A. P., & Barron, K.E. (2004). Testing moderator and mediator effects in counseling psychology research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 51, 115-134.
- Gardner, J. K., McConnell, T. R., Klinger, T. A., Herman, C. P., Hauck, C. A., & Laubach, C. A. (2003). Quality of life and self-efficacy: Gender and diagnoses considerations for management during cardiac rehabilitation. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation, 23*, 299-306.
- Grace, S. L., Abbey, S. E., Shneck, Z. M., Irvine, J., Franche, R., & Stewart, D. E. (2002a). Cardiac rehabilitation I: review of psychosocial factors. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 24, 121-126.
- Grace, S. L., Abbey, S. E., Shnek, Z. M., Irvine, J., Franche, R. L., & Stewart, D. E. (2002b). Cardiac rehabilitation II: Referral and participation. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 24, 127-134.
- Grace, S. L., Gravely-Witte, S., Kayaniyi, S., Brual, J., Suskin, N., & Stewart, D. E.
 (2009). A multisite examination of sex difference in cardiac rehabilitation
 barriers by participation status. *Journal of Women's Health*, 18, 209-216.
- Green, S. B. (1991). How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis? Multivariate Behavioural Research, 26, 499-510.

- Halm, M., Penque, S., Doll, N., & Beahrs, M. (1999). Women and cardiac rehabilitation: Referral and compliance patterns. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 13, 83-92.
- Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada. (2003). *The Growing Burden of Heart Disease and Stroke*. Retrieved September 27, 2009, from http://www.cvdinfobase.ca/cvdbook/CVD_En03.pdf
- Jackson, L., Lecler, J., Erskine, Y., & Linden, W. (2005). Getting the most out of cardiac rehabilitation: a review of referral and adherence predictors. *Heart*, 91, 10-14.
- Jolliffe, J. A., Rees, K., Taylor, R. S., Thompson, D., Oldridge, N., & Ebrahim, S.Exercise-based rehabilitation for coronary artery disease (Cochrane Review). In:The Cochrane Library, Issue 4, 2006. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Lent, R. W., & Lopez, F. G. (2002). Cognitive ties that bind: A tripartite view of efficacy beliefs in growth-promoting relationships. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 21, 256-283.
- McAuley, E., & Mihalko, S. L. (1998). Measuring exercise-related self-efficacy. In J. L.
 Duda (Ed.), Advances in sport and exercise psychology measurement (pp. 371-390). Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology.
- McAuley, E., & Blissmer, B. (2000). Self-efficacy determinants and consequences of physical activity. *Exercise and Sports Sciences Review*, 28, 85-88.

- McAuley, E., Pena, M. M., & Jerome, G. J. (2001). Self-efficacy as a determinant and outcome of exercise. In G. C. Roberts (Ed.), Advances in motivation in sport and exercise (pp. 235-262). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Millen, J. A. & Bray, S. R. (2008). Self-efficacy and adherence to exercise during and as a follow-up to cardiac rehabilitation. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 38, 2072-2087.
- Moore, S. M., Dolansky, M. A., Ruland, C. M., Pashkow, F. J., & Blackburn, G. G.
 (2003). Predictors of women's exercise maintenance after cardiac rehabilitation.
 Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation, 23, 40-49.
- Petter, M., Blanchard, C., Kemp, K. A. R., Mazoff, A. S., & Ferrier, S. N. (2009).
 Correlates of exercise among coronary heart disease patients: review,
 implications and future directions. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabiliation, 16*, 515-526.
- Rhodes, R. E., Martin, A. D., & Taunton, J. E. (2001). Temporal relationships of selfefficacy and social support as predictors of adherence in a 6-month strengthtraining program for older women. *Perceptual & Motor Skills*, *93*(3), 693-703.
- Sharp, J., & Freeman, C. (2009). Patterns and predictors of uptake and adherence to cardiac rehabilitation. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 29, 241-247.
- Sherbourne, C. D., & Stewart, A. L. (1991). The MOS Social Support Survey. Social Science and Medicine, 32, 705-714.

- Shields, C. A., & Brawley, L. R. (2006). Preferring proxy-agency: Impact on selfefficacy for exercise. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *11*, 904-914.
- Stone, J. A., Arthur, H. M., Austford, L., & Blair, T. (2004). Introduction to Cardiac Rehabilitation. In Stone, J. A. & Arthur, H. M. (Eds.), *Canadian Guidelines for Cardiac Rehabilitation and Cardiovascular Disease Prevention: Enhancing the Science, Refining the Art* (2nd ed.) (2-14). Winnepeg: Canadian Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation
- Stone, J. A., & Arthur, H. A. (Eds). (2009). Canadian Guidelines for Cardiac Rehabilitation and Cardiovascular Disease Prevention (3rd ed.). Winnepeg: Canadian Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation.
- Smith, S. C., Allen, J., Blair, S. N., Bonow, R. O., Brass, L. M., Fonarow, G. C., et al. (2006). AHA/ACC Guidelines for Secondary Prevention for Patients with Coronary and Other Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease : 2006 Update. *Circulation*, 113, 2363-2372.
- Statistics Canada. (2005). *Mortality, Summary, List of Causes*. Retrieved September 27, 2009, from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/84f0209x/84f0209x2005000-eng.pdf
- Tabachnick, B., & Fidell, L. (2001). *Using multivariate statistics* (4th ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Taylor, R. S., Brown, A., Ebrahim, S., Jolliffe, J., Noorani, H., Rees, K., et al. (2004). Exercise-based rehabilitation for patients with coronary heart disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *American Journal of Medicine*, 116, 682-692.

......

- Wills, T. A., & Shinar, O. (2000). Measuring perceived and received social support. In
 S. Cohen, L.G. Underwood, & B. H. Gottlieb (Eds). Social support
 measurement and intervention (pp. 55-85). New York: Oxford.
- Woodgate, J., Brawley, L. R., & Weston, Z. (2005). Maintenance cardiac rehabilitation adherence: Effects of task and self-regulatory self-efficacy. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 35, 183-197.
- Woodgate, J., Brawley, L. R., & Shields, C. A. (2007). Social support in cardiac rehabilitation exercise maintenance: Associations with self-efficacy and healthrelated quality of life. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *37*, 1041-1059.
- Woodgate, J., & Brawley, L. R. (2008). Self-efficacy for exercise in cardiac rehabilitation: review and recommendations. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 13, 366-387.
- Worchester, M. U. C., Murphy, B. M., Mee, V. K., Roberts, S. B., & Goble A. J. (2004). Cardiac rehabilitation programmes: predictors of non-attendance and drop-out. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation*, 11: 328-335.

Appendix A

Demographics

Please check ($\sqrt{}$) the appropriate box for each question.

- 1. Gender (check $\sqrt{\text{one}}$):
 - FemaleMale
- 3. Marital Status (check $\sqrt{\text{one}}$):



- 4. Employment Status (check $\sqrt{}$ one):
 - Given Full-time

2. Age: _____ years

- Part-time
- Unemployed
- Retired
- Leave of absence

Current Occupation (if applicable):

5. Cultural Background (check $\sqrt{\text{one}}$):

Please indicate the option which you feel best represents your cultural background

Caucasian
 Black (e.g. African, Haitian, Jamaican, Somali)
 Arab/West Asian (e.g. Egyptian, Iranian, Lebanese)
 Asian (e.g. Chinese, Japanese, Korean)
 Indigenous Peoples (e.g. Inuit Metis, North American Indian)
 Other (please specify

- 6. Education Level (check $\sqrt{}$ one):
 - Less than grade 8
 - Grade 8
 - Some high school
 - Completed high school
 - □ Some college
 - Completed college
 - **G** Some university
 - Completed university
 - □ Masters or PhD
 - □ No formal schooling

7. What is the nature of your referral to the Cardiac Health & Rehabilitation Centre? (check $\sqrt{}$ one):



□ Myocardial Infarction (MI) Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery (CABG)



Other (please indicate:

Appendix B

Self-Efficacy for Self-Regulation

Using the scale provided, please circle the option for EACH question below that best reflects how confident YOU ARE in your ability to manage that aspect of your exercise participation over the next 6 weeks. 1. How confident are you that you can motivate yourself to get at least 30 minutes of activity a day, 3 times per week? 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% Somewhat Completely Not at all 2. How confident are you that you can use safe, effective exercise technique (e.g., warm-up, stretching? 0% 10%20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% Somewhat Completely Not at all 3. How confident are you that you can plan exercise sessions that will be at least moderately difficult (e.g., have you breathing a little hard, your heart rate increases)? 0% 10% 40% 50% 60% 70% 90% 100% 20% 30% 80% Not at all Somewhat Completely 4. How confident are you that you can **monitor your exercise progress by recording** what exercises you do, how often you do them and for how long? 0% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 10% Not at all Somewhat Completely 5. How confident are you that you can set realistic, weekly exercise goals for yourself (e.g., exercising 3 days/week)? 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% Not at all Somewhat Completely

0% Not a		20%	30%		50% Somewl	 70%	80%		100% Completely
low con riers th		-	•		-	ons to c	cope wi	ith pot	ential
0% Not a		20%	30%		50% Somewh	70%	80%	90%	100% Completel
OW COD	fident	Vra Voli	that wa	11 000 6		 		4.0	ır weekly

i

Appendix C

Proxy Efficacy for Self-Regulation

In the ex many pa providec confider YOU to weeks .	rticipa I, plea It you	nts. Ba se circl are in '	ised on e the o YOUR	your e ption fo EXER	xperier or each RCISE	nce in th questio LEAD	his prog on belov E R'S A	ram, u v that b BILI	sing the best refl F Y TO	scale ects how HELP
1. How (yourself										
0% Not at al	10% 1	20%	30%		50% omewh		70%	80%	90% Coi	100% npletely
2. How effective			-	•					1 to use	safe,
0% Not at al	10% l1	20%	30%	40% So	50% omewh	60% at	70%	80%	90% Cor	100% mpletely
3. How (exercise minutes	e sessio	ons int	o your	weekly	y routi	ne so tl				
0% Not at al	10% ll	20%	30%	40% S	50% omewh	60% nat	70%	80%	90% Com	100% pletely
4. How exercise breathin	e sessio	ons tha	it will l	be at le	ast mo	derate	ly diffi			
0% Not at al	10% 1	20%	30%	40% S	50% omewł	60% nat	70%	80%	90% Cor	100% npletely

5. How confident are you that your exercise leader can help you to monitor your exercise progress by recording what exercises you do, how often you do them and for how long?

 0%
 10%
 20%
 30%
 40%
 50%
 60%
 70%
 80%
 90%
 100%

 Not at all
 Somewhat
 Completely

6. How confident are you that your exercise leader can help you to set realistic, weekly exercise goals for yourself (e.g., exercising 3 days/week)?

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% Not at all Somewhat Completely

7. How confident are you that your exercise leader can help you to **monitor** and regulate the intensity of your exercise so that it is moderately difficult?

 0%
 10%
 20%
 30%
 40%
 50%
 60%
 70%
 80%
 90%
 100%

 Not at all
 Somewhat
 Completely

8. How confident are you that your exercise leader can help you to **develop** solutions to cope with potential barriers that can interfere with your exercise?

 0%
 10%
 20%
 30%
 40%
 50%
 60%
 70%
 80%
 90%
 100%

 Not at all
 Somewhat
 Completely

and a second
Appendix D

Proxy Efficacy for In-Class Exercise

Please rate the confi			n your e	xercise	leader	's abilit	ies to de	o the
following over the	next 6 we	eks.						
Use the following 0	-10 scale	to make	vour ra	ings:				
				-				
0 1 2	3	2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -		Server a server and a server a	7	8	9	10
Not at all Extremely		N	Ioderate	y				
Confident		(Confiden	t				
Confident								
							1	fidence
4 3 6 (1 1 1				•.•				-10
1. My confidence in to-follow instruction		cise lead	ler's abil	ities to	provid	ie easy-	•	
	JIIS 15.							
2. My confidence in				ities to	clearly	y explai	in	
the exercises s/he v	vants me	to do is	:					
3. My confidence in	my exerc	cise lead	ler's abil	ities to	give n	ie advio	ce	
about how to exerc	-				0			
4. My confidence in	n my exerc	cise lead	ler's abi	ities to	educa	te me		
about effective exe	rcising is	:						
5. My confidence in	my exerc	cise lead	ler's abi	ities to	provi	le		
encouragement to	-				I			
6. My confidence in	n my exerc	cise lead	ler's abi	lities to	give n	ne		
appropriate feedba	ack on my	y exerci	ising for	m is:	-			
7. My confidence in	n my exerc	cise lead	ler's abi	lities to	give p	raise fo	or	
man good offents is								
my good erforts is:								
my good efforts is: 8. My confidence in								

10. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to be committed to me as a participant in the program is:	
11. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to look after me if I have difficulties is:	
12. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to include a variety of different exercises in my program is:	
13. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to incorporate new activities/exercises in my sessions is:	
14. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to design exercises that are challenging is:	
15. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to set up exercises that are fun to do is:	
16. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to boost my confidence in my abilities to exercise is:	<u> </u>
17. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to motivate me to exercise is:	
18. My confidence in my exercise leader's abilities to reduce my fears about exercising is:	

Appendix E

Instructor Support Efficacy

	eeks.
	Confidence 0-10
1. My confidence in my cardiac rehabilitation program staff/leaders' abilities to listen to me when I need to talk about my cardiac health concerns is:	
2. My confidence in my cardiac rehabilitation program staff/leaders' abilities to give me information to help me understand the importance of exercise for my cardiac health is:	
3. My confidence in my cardiac rehabilitation program staff/leaders' abilities to give me good advice about my cardiac health is:	
4. My confidence in my cardiac rehabilitation program staff/leaders' abilities to allow me to confide in him/her or talk to about my concerns about exercise and my cardiac health is:	
5. My confidence in my cardiac rehabilitation program staff/leaders' abilities to allow me to share my worries and fears about my cardiac health is:	
6. My confidence in my cardiac rehabilitation program staff/leaders' abilities to be available to help me with suggestions about how to deal with problems I run into with my exercise program (e.g., feeling too tired, not motivated, missed a few sessions, etc.) is:	

-

7. My confidence in my cardiac rehabilitation program staff/leaders' abilities to **understand my cardiac health concerns** is: